The Personal Assistance Services and Direct-Support Workforce: A Literature Review

Prepared by PHI under subcontract to the MEDSTAT Group for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services for the project "Research on the Adequacy and Availability of Personal Assistance Services for Persons of All Ages with a Disability or Long-Term Illness."

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	3
Who Receives Services	3
Who Delivers Services	5
Who Pays for Care	7
Medicaid Personal Care Services Option	
Where the Services Are Delivered	11
Consumer-Directed Care	13
Supply and Demand	15
The Challenge Ahead	16
Recruitment	17
Retention	
Wages	
Benefits	
Training	23
Conclusion	27
Resource List	28
Bibliography	34

INTRODUCTION

Millions of Americans of all ages with disabilities or long-term illnesses need assistance with daily activities such as bathing and dressing. Family members and friends fill much of that need, but paid workers are also a critical source of home care and personal assistance services.

The need for assistance is increasing as our population ages and the number of younger people with disabilities grows. Yet the number of people available to provide care is growing slowly, if at all. For the past several years, many states have reported difficulties in attracting and retaining a sufficient number of direct-care workers to meet the demand for services. Now states are redesigning their long-term care systems to accommodate people with disabilities and long-term illnesses who want to live in the community. This will require an even larger supply of qualified personal assistance workers.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services funded this paper to summarize literature and research on the home care, home health, and personal assistance services workforce, highlighting issues raised and lessons learned. This literature review is part of a multifaceted report on the policies and practices that influence the availability and adequacy of personal assistance services and supports for people living in the community.¹

WHO RECEIVES SERVICES

A disability is defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) as "a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual." According to Jack McNeil of the United States Census Bureau (2001), disabilities may be in the area of ambulation (inability to walk without assistance), communication (impairment in sight, hearing, or speech), or cognition (learning disability, mental retardation, Alzheimer's disease or another form of dementia, or an emotional disorder such as severe depression, anxiety, or schizophrenia).

People with disabilities may need assistance with activities of daily living (ADLs) and/or instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs). ADLs include basic tasks such as moving from one place to another, getting up from a chair or out of a

¹ For more information on this project or for additional resources, go to www.directcareclearinghouse.org/pas.

bed, bathing, dressing, eating, and toileting. IADLs include less primary but still important functions such as balancing a checkbook, preparing a meal, performing light housekeeping, taking medication, and using the telephone (McNeil 2001).

About 10.1 million people over the age of 18 in the United States, or 3.8 percent of the population, need another person's assistance to carry out activities such as bathing, feeding, cleaning, or grocery shopping (McNeil 2001). Within this group, it is estimated that 4.2 million are age 65 or older (USDHHS 2000).

Only a fraction of people with disabilities receive Medicaid-funded care or services. In a report based on 1995 Medicaid data, Pamela Doty, a senior policy analyst at the US Department of Health and Human Services, stated: "Medicaid home- and community-based services programs for the elderly and disabled...served a total of 1,847,369 recipients" (Doty 2000).

According to the Census Bureau, the number of Americans living with a disability or long-term illness keeps growing, "and that growth can be expected to accelerate in the coming decades" (1997). While there is general agreement that that number will grow, explanations of how growth will occur can be complex.

Researchers note that, while the number of elderly is increasing, the prevalence of disability among the elderly has dropped nearly 25 percent from 1982 through 1999 (Manton and Gu 2001). However, much of this decrease can be attributed to a decline in the need for assistance with IADLs, which is associated with a lower level of disability than a need for assistance with ADLs. In fact, the percent of the elderly who were severely impaired (receiving assistance with three to six ADLs) actually increased between 1984 and 1994, rising from 35.4 percent to 42.9 percent (AHRQ 2001).

In addition, two-fifths of those requiring personal assistance are under age 65. While the projected growth of this population is relatively small, the number of people in this age cohort is quite large compared to the number of elderly, so even a small growth rate translates to a large number of people. Furthermore, the percentage of young people requiring personal assistance rose between 1990 and 1994, going from 2.0 to 2.5 percent among those age 18 to 64 and from .3 to .5 percent among those age 5 through 17 (Kaye et. al. 1996).

At present, approximately four million people with mental retardation or another type of developmental disability live outside of institutional settings. Of these, an estimated 10 percent live in a non-familial supported residential setting and receive personal assistant services (USHHS 2000).

Elderly people with disabilities tend to want and need assistance different from that preferred by younger people with disabilities. In recent years, those differences have been the subject of considerable discussion among caregivers, advocates, and consumers. According to one report, these discussions "suggest differences concerning 1. the extent of reliance on unpaid caregivers, 2. the site of and rationale for providing care, 3. the extent of involvement of medical personnel in care arrangements and provision, and 4. the extent [to] which the disabled person directs and manages his or her services and assistants" (Eustis and Fischer 1992).

WHO DELIVERS SERVICES

While many direct caregivers work in nursing homes and other institutions, this literature review is concerned only with those who work in home- and community-based settings.

Since the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) tracks data pertaining to personal care assistants and home health aides, and because job descriptions and responsibilities attached to these titles are widely accepted and used, labor statistics for these workers are relatively easy to generate. The government, which pays for most of the care these workers provide through either Medicare or Medicaid, oversees them via certification standards, training requirements, and other regulations.

The BLS estimated the number of home health aides and personal care assistants to be just over a million in the year 2000 (Hecker 2001)—an estimated rate of growth of 53 percent since 1996. The majority of these workers are women, and most are between the ages of 25 and 44. A little less than half have a high school education or GED (Stone 2001).

Those characteristics may be somewhat different for other types of direct-care workers. These workers, who may be found in group homes, assisted living, consumers' homes, and other community-based settings, are identified by a number of titles, including residential aide, personal assistant, home care attendant, and direct-support professional (the last is usually applied to people

who work with individuals with mental retardation or developmental disabilities). The lack of standardization in job descriptions and the proliferation of titles—over 155, according to a survey completed in North Carolina (Hewitt et al. 2001)—make it difficult to generalize about this population.

According to Marianne Taylor of the Human Services Research Institute (1999), no one knows just how many paid community-based direct-support workers there are. Statistics for these workers tend to be inexact, as they are generally extracted from a broad range of titles within the Human Services and Health Care part of the Services Sector BLS database.

Despite the lack of definitive statistics, recent estimates place the number of direct-support professionals between 600,000 and 750,000. Amy Hewitt and her colleagues estimate that there are 400,000 FTE positions in community residential settings and between 90,500 and 125,000 direct-support workers in supportive vocational programs (2001).

In a 1994 review of literature, Amy Hewitt, Sheryl Larson, and Charles Lakin of the University of Minnesota's Institute on Community Integration found that the median age was between 26.5 and 39, an estimated 68 to 83 percent were female, 73 to 93 percent were Caucasian, and between 17 and 48 percent held some type of college degree (Hewitt 1994; Gaylord et al. 1998). More recently, Hewitt and Lakin (2001) in a review of existent literature, described the direct-support workforce as consisting primarily of women below the age of 39 with at least some college experience. At least a third, they found, have a college degree.

Paid workers represent only a fraction of those assisting people with disabilities. At least four-fifths of all adults with disabilities in the United States who need personal assistance services—80 to 83 percent—receive assistance from unpaid caregivers, according to the Census Bureau (Bureau of the Census 1997; Simon-Rusinowitz et al. 1998). For adults with disabilities who are under the age of 65 and meet state and federally defined need for personal care, that estimate rises to 86 percent (USDHHS 2000).

"Informal care" is the term generally used for unpaid care provided voluntarily to a family member or friend who is ill or has a disability and lives in the community (USDHHS 1998). While it should be noted that some family caregivers object to the term, this review reflects its use in the literature, where it generally describes unpaid caregivers who are not federally- or state-certified or

licensed, and/or who have not completed training required by a government agency.

The National Survey of Families and Households (Wave 2/1992-4) estimates that 52 million people in the United States, including 37 million relatives and 15 million friends, act as informal caregivers during the course of a year (USDHHS 1998). Of these, 38 percent are adult children providing care to an aging parent; 11 percent are providing care to a spouse; 7 percent are parents caring for a severely disabled child; 20 percent are caring for a relative such as a grandparent, sibling, aunt or uncle; and 24 percent are caring for a neighbor or friend (USDHHS 1998). Estimates place the average hours of service provided at anywhere from 34 hours to upwards of 52 hours a week (USDHHS 2000).

The same survey revealed that the average age for informal caregivers is 43 and the majority are women, who provide roughly 50 percent more hours of care per week than their male counterparts. It also reported that 64 percent of informal caregivers are employed outside of the home (USDHHS 1998).

Increased attention is being paid to the similarities and differences between formal and informal care and services (Penning 2002). The line between the two is blurring as Medicaid, the traditional funder of long-term care services, begins to fund consumer-directed service delivery models and, in some instances, paying family caregivers to deliver care.

WHO PAYS FOR CARE

Although out-of-pocket spending and private long-term care insurance, Medicare and other federal agencies, and state and local governments pay for some home- and community-based services (HCBS), Medicaid funds the great majority. Medicaid spending on HCBS totaled \$17.9 billion in 1999, approximately 28 percent of the \$63.9 billion spent on all Medicaid-funded long-term care services. That average is deceptive, however, since it is boosted by exceptionally high rates of HCBS usage in five states (Oregon and New York top the list at 40 percent and 50 percent respectively.) In most states, the percentage of Medicaid long-term care spending going to HCBS was below 28 percent (USDHHS 2000).

According to a US Department of Health and Human Services (USDHHS) primer on Medicaid, the program allows states "considerable flexibility to cover virtually all long-term care services that people with disabilities need to live

independently in home and community settings," but that wasn't always the case.

According to the USDHHS, Medicaid did not cover home health care at all until 1970, when the federal government changed its rules in response to the high cost of nursing facility care and criticism of the program's institutional bias. States are now required to offer Medicaid-funded home health services for beneficiaries entitled to nursing home care. (They may also cover other Medicaid beneficiaries, but are not required to.) The services covered include nursing, home health aides, medical supplies, medical equipment, and appliances suited for use in the home. States may also opt to provide therapeutic services including physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech pathology, and audiology services. All services must be deemed medically necessary and authorized on a physician's plan of care.

Medicaid pays for home care aides and personal assistants primarily through two means. The first is the main program's personal care services option. The second is the home and community-based services waiver program. As of June 2000, 27 states offered the personal services option. All 50 offered HCBS waiver programs and many had more than one, for a total of 242 (USDHHS 2000).

Medicaid's Personal Care Services Option

Any state offering this option must make the same coverage (amount, duration, and scope) available to all of its Medicaid beneficiaries. Initially, this option required a doctor's prescription, supervision by a registered nurse, and delivery in accordance with a care plan in the person's home. It primarily covered assistance with ADLs, offering assistance with IADLs only on a limited basis and in conjunction with ADL assistance (USDHHS 2000).

Over the last decade, coverage guidelines have been revised to be less medically oriented and more inclusive. A doctor's prescription and nurse supervision are no longer required. Services can be delivered outside a person's home and can include a broader array of service including assistance with IADLs such as personal hygiene, light housework, laundry, and meal preparation. Consumers can direct their own services and hire relatives to provide it, although legally responsible relatives (spouses and parents or guardians of minor children) are usually ineligible for pay (USDHHS 2000).

While these changes have the potential to broaden coverage, states must amend their Medicaid state plan to take advantage of them. In fact, coverage under this

option has grown slowly in recent years, in part because states looking to expand coverage often opt for more flexible HCBS waivers instead (USDHHS 2000).

Medicaid Waivers

Unlike the personal care services option, waivers allow states to target particular segments of the Medicaid-eligible population, such as people with certain diagnoses or residents of specific areas.

In 1981, Medicaid began to permit states to cover services that had not previously been covered by Medicaid but were needed to keep beneficiaries at home. These services are provided under the Home and Community Based Services, or 1915(c), waiver program. They include case management; homemaker, home health aide, and personal care services; adult day services and partial hospitalization; and psychosocial habilitation. As of 1998, about 40 percent of HCBS waivers served people with developmental disabilities, 57 percent served people with other disabilities, and 3 percent served other populations, including people with HIV/AIDS, people with brain injury, and children with medical disabilities (USDHHS 2000).

In addition to HCBS waivers, some states use 1115 waivers to provide home- and community-based services. These so-called demonstration waivers are available to states to test innovative approaches to financing and delivery of medical and supportive services. One example of such an approach is New York State's Medicaid-only Managed Long-Term Care demonstration program (Nadash 2001-2002). Another is the Cash and Counseling demonstrations in Florida, Arkansas, and New Jersey (University of Maryland Center on Aging 2001).

Much of the debate over whether to fund more HCBS revolves around whether it costs more than facility-based care. Recent research suggests that community placement is not necessarily less costly than institutional placement (Walsh et al. 2003). Some studies show that home- and community-based programs are more cost-effective (Polivka 2001). North Dakota's average payment through the Family Home Care program, for instance, is between \$186 and \$700 a month, while the average cost of institutionalization in the state is upwards of \$3,200 a month (MEDSTAT Group). A 2002 analysis by the Research and Training Center on Community Living/ Institute on Community Integration found that the average cost to care for a person in the MR/DD population in an institutional setting was \$121,406 annually; in the same population the annual Medicaid expenditure per person per year in a home and community based waiver program was on average \$35,309 (Prouty et al. 2002).

However, other studies point out that such figures neglect to account for the costs associated with informal caregiving. In a study conducted by the Montefiore Medical Center, the United Hospital Fund, and the Albert Einstein College of Medicine, the economic value of informal caregiving in the US in 1997 was placed at \$196 billion (Arno et al. 1999). In addition, these do not include hidden costs such as the increased health care costs incurred by physically and emotionally strained informal caregivers, decreased government tax revenues and increased likelihood of dependency on public assistance from their forgone employment income and benefits and lower worker productivity by those distracted by caregiving responsibilities (Fast and Frederick 1999). The report, *Informal Caregiving: Compassion in Action*, warns: "We cannot take informal caregiving for granted," because "we could not, as individuals or as a society, afford to pay the costs of replacing all informal caregivers with paid personnel" (USDHHS 1998).

Informal caregivers also need supports. According to an NCOA report, a survey by the Family Caregiver Alliance found that 76 percent of family caregivers need some type of support to help them care for their loved ones at home (NCOA 2001). Available services include respite care (hourly paid caregivers, temporary nursing home placement, or adult day services), chore services (volunteer or paid workers to do housekeeping and other chores), home-delivered meals, caregiver support groups, caregiver registries, and case management services. The report documents five "best practice" programs around the country that offer such supports.

Another factor to consider is that institutional care includes housing, food, and other costs unrelated to medical care or personal assistance services. Researchers A.R. Prouty and K.C. Lakin (2002) of the University of Minnesota note that day program costs for those being served under HCBS fall into educational budgets and room and board costs paid out of Social Security disability payments usually are not taken into account when estimating the cost of home-based services for those in the MR/DD population.

Some policymakers fear that paying informal caregivers will boost costs without providing more care, as people will simply start providing less unpaid care (Stone 1999). However, researcher Margaret J. Penning found no evidence of that in a study of the substitution of formal for informal in-home care. On the contrary, Penning (2002) notes: "The findings revealed no evidence to indicate

that greater use of formal services is associated with less extensive informal care."

WHERE SERVICES ARE DELIVERED

Government-funded long-term care programs have traditionally delivered services predominantly in institutional settings. Yet, if given a choice, consumers almost always prefer to stay in their own homes. A 2001 study conducted by *NewsHour with Jim Lehrer, the Kaiser Family Foundation, and the Harvard School of Public Health* of over 300 adults over the age of 45 who have "substantial nursing home experience" found that 90 percent of those surveyed would have difficulty accepting placement in a nursing home. Of those, 43 percent feel that nursing home placement would be "totally unacceptable." An earlier survey of over 1,200 Americans also revealed a strong preference for home-based care. When asked for their first choice for providing long-term care services, 49 percent chose family and friends, 38 percent chose home care agencies, and only 8 percent chose a nursing home or other residential setting (Kassner and Bectel 1998).

The tension between policymakers' needs to contain costs and individuals' desire for home-based care led to the independent living movement of the 1970s and the establishment of research and advocacy organizations such as the World Institute on Disability and ADAPT (American Disabled for Attendant Programs Today). As Hanson (1999) notes, the independent living movement advocated "consumer sovereignty – the idea that the disabled person, not professionals, should choose which services best fulfill the needs and interest of the individual."

Prior to the independent living movement, most people requiring assistance had no choice in the type of service they received or where that service was rendered unless they could afford to pay for it themselves. People with disabilities were generally institutionalized in a nursing home, developmental center, or psychiatric facility (Eustis and Fischer 1992).

Independent living advocates demanded and got more and better systems to support consumers living in the community. New services, which were funded mainly through Medicaid waivers, included home care, home health services, home attendant services, personal care services, homemaker programs, and adult day services (Penning 2002; Polivka 2001). This led to developments like the following:

- Between 1980 and 1993, the number of individuals with developmental disabilities living in state institutions declined by 44 percent (Hewitt and Larson 1994).
- The population at large state institutions for MR/DD population continues to fall. Between June 2000 and June 2001, there was 2.9 percent decrease (Prouty et al. 2002).
- Between 1994 and 1999, spending on home- and community-based services through Medicaid waivers increased by 14.6 percent, a much higher growth rate than that for institutional care (Fox-Grage et al. 2001).

Despite this shift, 73 percent of the long-term care portion of Medicaid spending in 1999 went to institutional care—almost three times the amount spent on homeand community-based services (Fox-Grage et al. 2001).

One of the most significant and earliest federal factors to affect the shift toward community-based service was the Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1987. OBRA '87 allowed funding to flow from nursing homes to community-based agencies, which in turn allowed more adults with disabilities to remain at home or return to the community. Also significant was 1993's Family and Medical Leave Act, which requires businesses of a certain size to grant employees unpaid leave in order to care for family members.

The Supreme Court provided another push in 1999. In *Olmstead v. L.C.*, the court ruled that public entities are required to administer their programs "in the most integrated setting appropriate to the needs of qualified individuals with disabilities" under Title II of the American with Disabilities Act (Fox-Grage et al. 2001). Executive Order 13217, issued by President George W. Bush on June 18, 2001, followed by his NewFreedom Initiative, bolstered that decision. Reiterating that "unjustified isolation or segregation of qualified individuals with disabilities through institutionalization is a form of disability-based discrimination," the executive order said states must ensure the existence of effective community-based programs and foster the independence and community participation of people with disabilities (Bush 2001).

Proposed federal legislation would further expand home- and community-based services. The Medicaid Community Attendant Services and Supports Act (MiCASSA) would allow any Medicaid beneficiary entitled to nursing home care facility to use those funds to pay for community services and supports instead.

While no action has been taken on the legislation to date, it enjoys significant support among disability advocacy groups and is expected to be reintroduced in the 108th Congress.

CONSUMER-DIRECTED CARE

A related trend is consumer direction, which allows people with disabilities or long-term illnesses to take a more active role in their care management. Unlike in agency-directed home care, where aides and personal assistants are generally assigned to a consumer with little or no allowance for personal preferences (Casebolt and Gilson 2000), self-directing consumers hire, train, and supervise their own assistants. What's more, the people they choose often have no formal training in caregiving. In fact, they may be relatives or friends.

While some states require Medicaid-funded services to be provided through state-licensed home care agencies, federal law requires agency involvement only if those services are provided under the home health benefit (USDHHS 2000). Meanwhile, notes Larry Polivka (2001), director of the Florida Policy Exchange Center on Aging, "Support is growing for publicly funded payments to informal caregivers (relatives and friends)."

Polivka (2001) estimates that close to 70 percent of the states pay informal caregivers to provide care in consumer-directed community-based models. A survey of states' involvement in personal care and home health programs revealed that 34 of the 41 responding states offered some form of paid informal caregiving through consumer-directed models (Niesz 2001).

"Paying caregivers through consumer-directed models represents a paradigm shift in the objectives and management of long-term care services," writes Polivka (2001). He identified three types of state and federally funded programs that pay informal caregivers: 1) caregiver allowance programs, in which caregivers are paid small monthly stipends of \$100 to \$200 to compensate for out-of pocket costs; 2) consumer-directed attendant care programs, in which caregivers are paid an hourly, taxable wage for their work; and 3) mixed model programs, which are some variation on the two (2001). Examples of programs that pay informal caregivers include California's In Home Supportive Services Program, Iowa's Elderly Waiver Program, and Michigan's Home Help Program.

A 2001 study by the National Council on the Aging (NCOA) found that more than 75 percent of consumer-directed care programs allow consumers to choose personal attendants with no formal training in caregiving.

Medicaid regulations generally do not allow people to be paid to assist their own children or spouses. However, exceptions may be made under the following circumstances:

- 1. If the legally liable relative provides skilled nursing care outside what is "normally" expected by someone in this role (USDHHS 2000). This would apply, for instance, if a registered nurse provided care to a spouse or child under a Medicaid service agreement.
- 2. If the state has been granted a waiver from this requirement. The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the US Department of Health and Human Services are funding a Cash and Counseling demonstration project in three states under Medicaid 1115 waivers. Two of these states—New Jersey and Florida—allow payment to anyone providing informal care, including legally liable relatives (University of Maryland Center on Aging 2001).

Some states fund programs solely with their own funds, allowing them to devise their own eligibility rules. One study found that 10 states have self-funded programs that allow payment to spouses and parents of minor children (Niesz 2001). Another source of funding is the Veterans Administration, whose Housebound Program and Aide and Attendance Program provide cash to consumers for supportive services and other needs. Both programs allow consumers to pay spouses (Simon-Rusinowitz et al. 1998).

Studies of this relatively new phenomenon are limited, but a few show that consumers who opt for this model enjoy the additional choice and control it gives them (Velgouse and Dize 2000; Polivka 2001).

Other studies show problematic working conditions for care providers hired under the consumer-directed model, noting that the consumer's lack of knowledge of how to supervise and/or express their needs bears the potential to hinder the working relationship, and that a consumer's lack of knowledge of training and support resources may thwart a caregiver's skill potential (Yamada 2001).

SUPPLY AND DEMAND

The demand for paid home- and community-based workers is increasing (Hewitt and Lakin 2001), due in part to an increase in the number of people with disabilities requiring assistance. The move toward de-institutionalizing care is another factor, since more direct-care workers are needed to assist 10 people if each lives in his or her own home than if they lived together in a facility.

The Bureau of Labor Statistics projects a 62.5 percent increase in demand for home care and personal care aides and a 47.3 percent increase in demand for home health aides between 2000 and 2010 (Hecker 2001). The number of home health aides and personal care aides is expected to rise to 1.5 million by the year 2010, up from just over one million in 2000 (Hecker 2001). That category is projected to be the eighth fastest-growing occupation between 2000 and 2010, requiring an estimated 874,000 additional workers to keep up with increasing demand (PHI and NCDHHS 2002).

Organizations and agencies are already feeling the strain of labor vacancies (Cramer et al. 1999; Dixon 2001; Workforce Training and Education Coordinating Board 2002; Gilbert 1988). Managers of residential programs have consistently identified the recruitment, training, and retention of high-quality staff as "among the most challenging problems they face" (Ford and Honnor 2000). In Minnesota, Medicaid waiver resources are being unspent in consumer-directed care models because families are finding it increasingly difficult to find in-home supports, not because those supports are not needed (Taylor 2002).

"Our community support system is highly vulnerable due to the increased pressure on counties to serve more people with less money," write Jennifer Ondrejka and Howard Mandeville of the Wisconsin Council on Developmental Disabilities (2002). Budgetary challenges exist at the state level as well. The National Governors Association reports that nearly every state is in fiscal crisis as a result of the slowing of the national economy. State revenues are shrinking while spending pressures—particularly for Medicaid and other health care—mount. According to the report, virtually all states have either taken action in fiscal year 2002 or plan to take action in 2003 to control Medicaid costs to respond to these fiscal pressures (National Governors Association 2002).

Adding to the pressure to find workers are legal actions being taken against states for maintaining lengthy waiting lists for home- and community-based

services. As of summer 2002, litigation had been filed against 21 states for "failure to provide prompt access to Medicaid long term services" (Taylor 2002).

As Jerry Ford and Jill Honnor (2000) observe, "Recruiting new workers is a major human resource barrier to providing adequate community services to people with developmental disabilities." Competition in recruiting in the human resource field is expected to grow, and potential workers are being drawn into less demanding, higher paying positions (Ford and Honnor 2000; Hewitt and Lakin 2001; Feldman 1994; Cramer et al. 1999). Relatively low employment rates, difficulty in accessing transportation and affordable child care, and other systemic problems exacerbate the problem (Cramer et al. 1999; Bratesman 2000).

Immigration continues to supply a steady stream of direct-care workers. According to a November 2002 report published by the Center for Immigration Studies, "There is no evidence that the economic slowdown that began in 2000 or the terrorist attacks in 2001 has significantly slowed the rate of immigration. More than 3.3 million legal and illegal immigrants entered the country between January 2000 and March 2002" (Camarota 2002).

Yet even before September 11, Robyn Stone (2001) argues, immigrants were unable to fill all the openings in long-term care: "Analysis of the data from 1950 to 1990 indicates that although immigration's impact has contributed to high worker-to-elderly ratios, the amount of immigration over the past decades has been insufficient to counteract the much stronger impact of populations aging."

THE CHALLENGE AHEAD

Hundreds of thousands of additional workers will be needed to provide homeand community-based personal assistance services over the coming decade. Further, the skills needed by these workers may be somewhat different than those required of long-term care workers to date. As Amy Hewitt and Susan O'Nell of the Institute on Community Integration point out, the shift from traditional institutional care to home- and community-based care created changes in the location of service delivery (geography), expectations of those who have disabilities, and the skills required to support people with disabilities (Gaylord et al. 1998).

The challenges facing those who want to strengthen the direct-care workforce can be divided into five areas: recruitment, retention, wages, benefits, and training.

Recruitment

Recruiting personal assistants can be a difficult task.

Newspaper ads, the traditional means of recruiting, tend to be ineffective at attracting workers who will remain in their positions for more than a few months (Gaylord et al. 1998). It can also be difficult to judge such matters as who will be trustworthy and whether a candidate can deliver safe and high-quality care (Casebolt and Gilson 2000).

Debra Burdsall (n.d.), a Community Liaison for the Spinal Cord Injury Project at Santa Clara Valley Medical Center, recommends that self-directing consumers contact local independent living centers, post advertisement on hospital bulletin boards and community college or university career center bulletin boards, or advertise in weekly church publications. Community colleges are more appealing choices than universities, as students are usually local residents and "may be available year-round" (Casebolt and Gilson 2000).

Other places worth trying include the local welfare department; local offices for the federal or state office of Housing and Urban Development; supermarkets, shopping centers, and other stores; the local public housing authority; community organizations that serve immigrants, the elderly and disabled, victims of domestic abuse, or other underserved populations; GED and other educational programs; health clinics; laundromats; and unemployment offices (Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute 2003; Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute 2000).

In their consumer guide to training personal assistants, Gordon Casebolt and Stephen Gilson (2000) stress the need for a thorough screening process including a written application, a criminal background check, reference checks, and a comprehensive description of the job given either verbally or in writing to the applicant. Marianne Taylor (2000) of the Human Services Research Institute echoes this, saying that providing a "realistic job preview" is essential to recruiting a quality worker, and subsequently, retaining that worker.

Another key to success is screening for the right kind of person. Successful direct-care workers tend to be mature, reliable, sensitive to other people's preferences and needs, and good at prioritizing tasks, solving problems, and negotiating sticky situations. Depending on the client's needs, the job may also

require specific technical skills, such as monitoring vital signs or complex medical equipment (Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute 2003).

Retention

Turnover rates are high for direct-care workers in long-term care. The national average is estimated to be between 40 and 75 percent, depending on the facility or service type (Mesirow et al. 1998). Most workers leave their jobs within the first year (Bratesman 2000).

Poor benefits, low wages, and inflexible work hours are among the key causes of this high turnover rate. Other factors include a perceived lack of respect, limited decision-making capacity, and not being treated as a professional (Dixon 2001; Ford and Honnor 2000). The main reasons cited by direct-support professionals for leaving their jobs, according to Hewitt and Lakin (2001), are "difficulty getting along with co-workers, inadequate pay, and issues with their supervisors."

Limited opportunities for advancement often contribute to turnover (Barrett and Riggar 1997), as well as workers being too busy with their own families' personal care or medical tasks to offer needed emotional support or forge close personal relationships with clients—two of the primary rewards that motivate committed caregivers (Stone 1999; Yee 1994). In addition, worker stress and "burnout" have been shown to contribute to high turnover rates among direct-support professionals in residential and rehabilitative settings (Dixon 2001; Rhoades and McFarland 1999; Workforce Training and Education Coordinating Board 2002). A Kansas meta-analysis on turnover rates found a statistical correlation between turnover and job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and supervisory skills (Taylor 2002).

Turnover is expensive. One study estimates that the increased managerial expenses, lost productivity, and recruitment and training costs involved in replacing a direct-care worker add up to between \$1,400 and \$4,300 (Dawson and Surpin 2001). Marianne Taylor, senior project director at the Human Services Research Institute, finds that the cost ranges from \$2,000 to \$5,000 per recruit, depending on geographic differences, unemployment rates, managerial and training expenses, and advertisement costs, among other factors (Taylor 2002).

One study estimated the average cost in Alaska to be \$2,341 per worker (Johnston 1998). Another, looking at nursing homes and home health agencies in Ohio, found the average self-reported turnover costs per employee ranging from

\$952 to \$2,100 for different categories of long-term care employers. The report noted only 17% of the providers surveyed had ever calculated turnover costs and, of those that did, most had likely underestimated the cost based on an early study that found an average cost of \$3,200 for each frontline worker replaced using careful accounting estimates (Straker and Atchley, 1999). The annual cost of replacing staff in an average-sized rehabilitative center (116.5 full-time equivalent employees) was estimated to be \$165,000 (Barrett and Riggar 1997). Finally, a study of residential care settings for people with developmental disabilities found the cost of recruiting, training, and supervising replacement staff to be between \$80 and \$100 million nationwide in 1993 (Gaylord et al. 1998).

The toll on human emotions and well-being is harder to measure. Turnover disrupts the continuity of care for people with disabilities (Ford and Honnor 2000; Hewitt and Lakin 2001; Mesirow et al.; Feldman 1994; Dawson and Surpin 2001). As Penny Feldman (1994) of the Visiting Nurse Services of New York points out, "Lack of continuity makes it extremely difficult to develop and sustain the trusting and familiar relationships that foster personal growth, independence, and self-direction." Those relationships are "fundamental" to the success and well-being of people with disabilities (Dawson and Surpin 2001). When relationships end repeatedly due to high turnover rates, "there is a loss that people with disabilities and their families must face over and over" (Turner 2002). Clients become reluctant to form bonds because of high turnover (Lombardi 2001).

Hewitt and Lakin (2001) note that clients often feel angry, confused, and/or sad when a worker leaves, yet service providers tend to expect consumers to "get used to five or more employees coming into their home." They also note that the most detrimental effects of turnover on people receiving community supports are decreased ability to: "1) develop and maintain relationships of support, 2) understand and develop mutual respect, and 3) develop trust with every new support staff person that enters the person's life."

Some organizations have managed to slow the revolving door. A 41-month study of the San Francisco In-Home Supportive Services Program compared the number of workers and turnover rates at the start and the end of the project. The number of workers increased by 39 percent, and "there was extraordinary constancy in measures of workforce stability, including turnover and the length of match between consumer and provider" (Howes 2002). Candace Howes, researcher on this project, attributes the outcomes to wage increases and the unionization of these workers.

Wages

Improving wages and benefits would improve retention for direct-care workers (Ondrejka and Mandeville 2002; Gardner 2001; Hewitt and Lakin 2001; Dawson and Surpin 2001; Cramer et al. 1999; Holzer 2001; Close and Estes 1994; Wenger 2002; Gaylord et al. 1998, MacAdam 1989; Gilbert 1988; Lombardi 2001). Researcher Margaret MacAdam (1993) states: "Labor theory holds that if there are no significant barriers to entry, such as limitation on numbers of job openings or extensive educational or training requirements, long-term worker shortages exist because employers are not able to raise wages to competitive levels."

Because long-term care services are primarily funded with state and federal money, wages are directly tied to public and political support. Marianne Taylor (2002) of the Human Services Research Institute asserts, "Growing human service needs and costs have forced politicians to 'hold the line' on raising wages, improving benefits and providing wage adjustments indexed to the cost of living."

Direct-care wages are generally low throughout long-term care, but home- and community-based workers tend to make less than those in institutional settings (Hewitt and Lakin 2001). This makes it harder to expand services in community-based settings (Gould et al. 1988). Some observers believe the disparity is due to the lack of union representation in home care, noting that only 1 percent of home care workers are represented, as compared to 10 percent of institutional workers (Close and Estes 1994).

Larson and colleagues (2001) surveyed mean starting wages for direct-support workers in residential settings nationally between 1998 and 2000. They found that "by June 2000 the starting wage for direct-care workers had risen to \$9.19 (an increase of 5.9 percent) while the mean wage had increased to \$11.57, an increase of 7.1 percent in two years."

The average starting wage for direct-support workers ranged from \$5.62 per hour in Louisiana to \$14.86 per hour in Connecticut (Larson et al. 2001). Another review of literature by Hewitt and Lakin (2001) revealed that direct-support professionals in home- and community-based settings averaged \$9.14 per hour, according to 1998 data.

The median hourly wages received by home health aides in 2000 ranged from \$6.60 in Texas to \$11.45 in Connecticut, according to a report by Susan Harmuth

of the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services and the Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute (2002). The average of all the state medians was \$8.23. The median hourly wage for a personal care attendant or home care attendant ranged from \$6.17 in Louisiana to \$10.93 in Alaska, averaging \$7.50 nationwide.

Home- and community-based direct-care workers often find it difficult to amass enough hours to earn a living wage. This is especially hard for independent providers who work for only one or two clients, as each client is entitled to only a certain amount of reimbursable care per month. A draft report to the California legislature notes that hourly wages for caregivers in the In-Home Supportive Services Programs range from \$6.25 in Sacramento County to \$9.70 an hour in San Francisco County (California Department of Social Services 2001). Each worker's earning potential was further limited by the program's monthly cap of \$1,627 per consumer (Polivka 2001).

Raymond Glazier (2001) of Abt Associates writes: "The character of the independent provider/personal assistant service (PAS) consumer relationship could, in many such a case, be characterized as mutual exploitation. Both parties to the relationship agree to less than desirable terms because both are at a disadvantage: The independent provider cannot find other employment and values (and often insists upon) cash 'under the table,' while the PAS consumer, consciously or unconsciously, trades more control for lesser quality services, and possibly fewer than his/her authorized hours in order to pay more per hour."

One respondent to a survey of paid family caregivers in Michigan said: "If the state told me they would pay me to care for somebody else for the money I am getting, I would say forget it—for that amount of money for what I'm doing? There has to be love involved because the money certainly wouldn't make somebody go in and do something like [I do]" (Simon-Rusinowitz 1998).

How much higher must wages be to attract and retain more workers? In Wyoming, a study ordered by the Department of Health recommended an increase from \$6.92 to \$10.23 an hour for direct-support workers in order to improve retention. That figure amounts to 90 percent of the regional average for the lowest paid workers in similar jobs in 12 Western states. It was arrived at after a statewide survey of former direct-care workers who had left the field found that most would have stayed for \$10 per hour (with raises for workers with experience).

In addition, the researchers compared direct-care workers' wages to those of workers with equivalent experience in retail and service industries and recommended that the direct-care workers should be paid more, in acknowledgement of the stress and difficulty of the work. In response, the state ruled that \$30 million dollars in wage pass-through funds be allocated after July 1, 2002 (State of Wyoming Department of Health 2001). The actual appropriations for the 2003-2004 biennium are \$23.4 million for direct-care personnel of the developmentally disabled persons living in home- and community-based settings, and \$5.8 million for direct-care workers in Medicaid-certified nursing facilities.

Benefits

Lack of benefits often discourages workers from entering the field or causes them to leave (Close and Estes 1993; Hewitt and Lakin 2001; Feldman 1994; Glazier 2001; Dawson and Surpin 2001; Gaylord 1998; Bratesman 2000; MacAdam 1989). While a number of benefits are generally lacking for direct-care workers, the literature focuses almost exclusively on affordable health insurance.

Lack of company-provided health insurance correlates to high turnover rates, according to a report spanning various industries that was published last year by the Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research and Educational Trusts. The authors note: "33 percent of all firms that reported 50 percent or more turnover in the last year offer coverage, compared to 68 percent for businesses with lower turnover" (Rowland 2001).

In a survey of state benefits and programs designed for long-term care workers, it was found that only Hawaii and Minnesota currently fund health insurance for direct-support workers, and only Pennsylvania and Texas support other services such as transportation assistance, child care, or bonuses (PHI and NCDHHS 2002The Current Population Survey (March Supplements from 1998, 1999 and 2000) estimated that 35 percent of all home health aides were uninsured, and 12 percent of all direct-care workers receive health care coverage through Medicaid. In Maine, only an estimated 8 percent of home health workers received benefits from their employers.

Health coverage is even lower for workers who are not employed by agencies or facilities. An NCOA survey of administrators found that a lack of health insurance for caregivers ranked as one of the top ethical issues confronting consumer-directed care (Velgouse and Dize 2000).

Findings from a Los Angeles County In-Home Supportive Services Providers survey indicate that close to half (45 percent) of IHSS's caregivers (32,000) are uninsured (Cousineau 2000). The same study revealed that 23 percent of the uninsured home care workers had postponed filling a needed prescription or left it unfilled within the past year, 40 percent of those who were uninsured delayed or did not seek medical treatment, and about 5 percent delayed needed surgery due to its cost. A third (33 percent) of the uninsured female workers between the ages of 18 and 64 had not received a Pap test in the previous two years, compared with 13 percent of those with private insurance, and 35 percent of the uninsured women over 50 had not received a mammogram in the previous two years, compared with 9 percent of those with private insurance (Cousineau 2000).

In a report written by Health Care For All in Massachusetts, a survey of 196 direct-care workers revealed that 25 percent were uninsured, and that direct-care workers were three times more likely to be uninsured than other adults in Massachusetts. The researchers also found that individuals working within this sector were more likely to avoid seeking medical care because of cost, and less likely to have a regular health care provider than the general Massachusetts population. The report also states that all of the employers of these direct-care workers offered health insurance, but premium rates prevented the workers from purchasing it. Further, the report suggests that since more than 75 percent of the clients being cared for by the surveyed workers receive publicly funded care, payment rates for these home-, community-, and nursing facility-based services "significantly affect workers' wages and access to employment-based health insurance benefits" (Hams et al. 2002).

After the California studies were completed, several of the state's public authorities began providing low-cost health insurance to direct-care workers. In San Francisco County, for instance, a program created in 1999 provides coverage for \$3 a month. Independent providers (the public authority's title for the workers providing consumer-directed care and services) who have worked at least 25 hours in each of the previous two months are eligible for coverage.

Training

The amount and type of formal training that a caregiver receives—if any—depends on many factors, including his or her job title, the requirements of the state where he or she works, and the preferences of the organization or individual that employs him or her. Furthermore, the question of whether

caregivers should be trained at all, and if so how, is a topic of debate among disability advocates and other long-term care stakeholders.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) require home health aides who provide services under the auspice of Medicare to receive a minimum of 75 hours of training, including at least 16 hours of supervised practical training. In addition, they must receive at least 12 hours of continuing education per year (Code of Federal Regulations; Title 42, Volume 3, Parts 430 to the end; r. 2000).

Beyond that regulation, there are no federal training standards for direct-care workers in home- and community-based settings. While some states require as much as 40 hours of training for home care or personal care assistants, others require none at all (Hewitt and O'Nell 1998). "Despite the depth and demands of this role, (the long term care) field has done little beyond basic training to prepare and sustain the direct-support practitioners in their jobs and help them grow in a meaningful career path" (Taylor 1998). Further, state-by-state and local training certifications are rarely portable in formal caregiving systems, meaning experience is not considered when a worker leaves a position in a nursing home to work in a community-based setting. State and local training, no matter the cost or appropriateness to the employer or worker, must be repeated when crossing state lines (Larson et al. 2001).

Typically, the employer decides how much and what kind of training workers need. One 1992 study found that 90 percent of all residential service providers "require and provide some form of classroom in-service and 80 percent require on-the-job training for direct service employees" (Gaylord 1998). Agencies and other entities that train workers vary widely in what they teach, but certain key elements, such as infection control, the patient's bill of rights, emergency procedures, and first aid, are nearly universal. These elements tend to be based on practices used in institutions and on training requirements for certified nursing assistants (Hewitt and Lakin 2001).

Training is often provided in the form of orientation and a series of in-services. According to Sandy Henry and her colleagues at Dungarvin Inc. (a long-term care provider), such training often satisfies state regulations but fails to meet the needs of the workers or the people they support (Gaylord 1998). Another example of basic training is the program offered by the Northwestern Illinois Center for Independent Living. Its two-day training for personal assistants covers bowel and bladder care and certain specific disabilities (Kekstadt 2000).

Many experts believe that the skills needed to be a successful direct-care worker in home- and community-based settings should be developed more systematically. Ford and Honnor (2000) believe these workers need more knowledge and skills than those who work in institutional settings, as they often perform a wider range of tasks. Dawson and Surpin (2001) say entry-level training should be "upgraded and expanded to reflect current care needs, clinical realities, and adult life-long learning techniques—particularly to cultivate problem-solving, interpersonal, and communication skills and specific skills related to caring for clients with Alzheimer's disease, physical disabilities, and depression."

The Community Support Skills Standards is a group of 12 skills and supports for direct-support professionals that disability advocates determined to be core competencies or needs. They include "education, training and self-development" and "vocational, educational and career support" (Gaylord et al. 1998). The Direct Support College, developed by Hewitt and Lakin, is another attempt to create national standards for direct-support workers. Five core curricula are available on-line through this Internet-based "college," with plans for a dozen in all. Hewitt and Larson (1994) argue that direct-support professionals need structured training in order to develop the necessary "knowledge, skills, and attitudes" to do their job effectively.

The World Institute on Disability recommends that the following competencies be included in a federal definition of a personal attendant:

- Personal maintenance and hygiene activities
- Mobility tasks
- Household maintenance tasks
- Cognitive and life management activities such as money management, planning, and decision-making
- Security-related services such as interpreting for people with hearing or speech difficulties (Glazier 2001).

Training standards are more limited for informal caregivers than they are for workers whose services are reimbursed by the government. One survey revealed that of 41 responding states, only four (New York, Washington, South Carolina, and Utah) required any training for paid informal caregivers (Niesz 2001). "Informal caregivers are seldom adequately trained and almost never offered appropriate follow-up services," writes researcher Peter Arno and colleagues.

"They are left to negotiate an increasingly complex and fragmented system and to find whatever help they can by whatever means they can" (Arno et al. 1999).

That is as it should be, according to some: Certain disability advocates and other long-term care stakeholders strongly oppose formal training and standards for direct-care workers. Such training, they believe, reinforces the medical model of equating disability to illness, contributes to a hierarchy in which the worker dominates the consumer, and gives the individual receiving care less control in directing his or her care (Glazier 2001; ADAPT; Moseley 1999). The Center for an Accessible Society (n.d.) believes that state training requirements often do not meet any long-term care consumer needs because of the diversity of the population—citing that the consumer of the services is best fit to determine his/her own needs in terms of training. Further, the Center believes that these requirements and training packages only increase program costs.

Yet others argue that consumer-directed care calls for more training, not less—or at a minimum, a whole new kind of training. Polivka (2001) believes states should educate consumers and caregivers about each other's role in consumer-directed care and the risks and responsibilities involved. Similarly, Charles Moseley (1999) of the National Program Office on Self-Determination asserts that educating family caregivers and consumers on how to work with caregivers is essential to fulfilling the promise of consumer-directed care.

ADAPT (n.d.) recommends combining the two existing models for home care workers into one, creating a class of worker somewhere between the minimally trained personal care attendant and the medically oriented home health aide. The organization believes workers should provide both health care and personal assistance services, regardless of whether they provide agency-based or consumer-directed care.

Even if there were general agreement on what training was needed, however, it would take time to build up the systems needed to provide it. In reports about direct-support professionals, Hewitt and her colleagues could have been writing about direct-care workers in virtually all forms of home- and community-based care when they discussed barriers to training. Decentralization of services and lack of qualified trainers make it difficult to train direct-support professionals, note Hewitt and Larson (1994). A final obstacle is the shortage of money allotted for training (Hewitt and Lakin 2001).

Conclusion

The literature documents the challenge of finding people to provide personal assistance to the growing number of Americans with disabilities and long-term illnesses.

Changes in public policy and consumer preferences are increasingly shifting services from institutions to homes and other community settings. In some cases, consumers are taking charge of directing their own services. In others, family members and friends are being paid for the services they provide. The research correlates these changes with higher levels of consumer satisfaction.

However, the move away from facility-based care will create a need for more personal assistance workers, and employers are already finding it difficult to meet current demands. Studies highlight the factors that make it difficult to retain workers in these positions or recruit new workers to the field, which include the following:

- Low wages
- Lack of affordable health insurance and other benefits
- Insufficient training
- Inadequate supervision and support
- Limited opportunities for advancement

Research has examined interventions aimed at removing roadblocks in these areas, but the scale of these evaluations has been limited and the results are primarily anecdotal or perceptual. More comprehensive research could better illuminate how these factors affect the workforce and what can be done to improve recruitment and retention rates.

RESOURCE LIST

FOR CONSUMERS

ADAPT promotes home- and community-based services for people with disabilities. www.adapt.org

Alzheimer's Association has made family and formal caregiving a priority. To read about its resources and tips for family caregivers, go to www.alz.org/FamCare/overview.asp

The Campaign for Quality Homecare is a grassroots movement in California to improve the situation for workers and recipients of services participating in the state's In-Home Supportive Services program. www.calhomecare.org/

National Program Office on Self-Determination provides links, articles, and message boards on self-determination, as well as articles on personal care assistants.

www.self-determination.org/index.htm

The **World Institute on Disability** (WID) is a nonprofit, national public policy center dedicated to promoting independence and full societal inclusion for people with disabilities. www.wid.org

FOR FAMILY CAREGIVERS

Caregiver Jobs Clearinghouse provides displaced workers with caregiving career opportunities in long-term care. www.carecareers.net/

Center for Family Caregivers provides emotional support to family caregivers. <u>www.familycaregivers.org/index.html</u>

Empowering CaregiversTM is a site devoted to caregiving, offering information on caregiving practices and resources, message boards, and newsletters. www.care-givers.com/pages/main.html#Anchor

Family Caregiver Alliance works to address the needs of families and friends providing long-term care by developing services, advocating for public and private support, conducting research, and educating the public. Core services include consultation on long-term care planning, service linkage, legal and

financial consultation, respite services, counseling, and education. www.caregiver.org

International Center for Disability Resources on the Internet (Caregiver Section) helps caregivers find resources and support worldwide.

www.icdri.org/caregiver/caregiving resource page.htm

National Alliance for Caregiving is a national organization that disseminates research and information for family caregivers and the professionals who support them. www.caregiving.org

National Family Caregivers Association (NFCA). NFCA is a grassroots organization created to educate, support, empower, and speak for the family caregivers. www.nfcacares.org/

Well Spouse Foundation is a national, not-for-profit membership organization that supports wives, husbands, and partners of the chronically ill and/or disabled. www.wellspouse.org/

FOR PAID CAREGIVERS AND PERSONAL ASSISTANTS Connecticut Association of Personal Assistants promotes professional growth for personal assistants through support, advocacy, outreach, and public education. www.ctapa.org

Direct Care Alliance is a coalition of long-term care consumers, workers, and providers working for reforms in both public policy and workforce practices to ensure a stable, valued, and well-trained direct-care workforce.

www.directcarealliance.org

Iowa Caregiver's Association is a statewide professional association for Certified Nurse Assistants, Home Care Aides, Patient Care Technicians, and other direct-care/support workers. www.iowacaregivers.org/

The National Alliance of Direct Support Professionals is a coalition of organizations and individuals committed to strengthening the direct-support workforce. www.nadsp.org/

National Network of Career Nursing Assistants is a nonprofit, educational organization promoting recognition, education, research, advocacy, and peer

support development for nursing assistants in nursing homes and other longterm care settings.

www.dbmmgt.com/websuite Career Nursing Assistants/pages/home.htm

The Quality Mall houses the "Staffing Store" that provides the browser with easily accessible information on people who provide direct support and other services to people with developmental disabilities. www.qualitymall.org/main/

Wisconsin Council on Developmental Disabilities is addressing direct-support workforce issues in the state. www.wcdd.org/

FOR PROVIDERS

ANCOR (American Network of Community Options and Resources) is a nonprofit trade association representing private providers who provide supports and services to people with disabilities. www.ancor.org/dev/

Association of Developmental Disabilities Providers offers proactive, statewide leadership to improve the social, political, and economic well-being of community organizations that provide services and support to people with developmental disabilities and their families. www.addp.org/

National Association for Area Agencies on Aging (N4A) is the umbrella organization for the 655 area agencies on aging (AAAs) and more than 230 Title VI Native American aging programs in the US. Through its presence in Washington, DC, N4A advocates on behalf of the local aging agencies to ensure that needed resources and support services are available to older Americans. www.n4a.org/

National Association for Home Care and Hospice is a national organization representing home care agencies, hospices, home care aide organizations, and medical equipment suppliers. It sponsors a national certification program for home care aides through its Home Care University (www.nahc.org/HCU/credent.html).

GOVERNMENT AGENCIES AND RESOURCES

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services is the federal agency within the US Department of Health and Human Services that houses the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These programs benefit about 75 million Americans. The

CMS web site has resources and information for consumers about disability and aging issues. cms.hhs.gov/medicaid/consumerag.asp

DisabilityInfo.gov is the online resources for President George W. Bush's *New Freedom Initiative*. It is a comprehensive online resource specifically designed to provide people with disabilities with the information they need to know quickly. The site provides access to disability-related information and programs available across the government on numerous subjects, including civil rights, education, employment, housing, health, income support, technology, transportation, and community life. www.disabilityinfo.gov/

National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research's goal is to generate, disseminate, and promote new knowledge to improve the options available to disabled persons. www.ed.gov/offices/OSERS/NIDRR/About/

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) is the principal advisor to the Secretary of the US Department of Health and Human Services on policy development, and is responsible for major activities in the areas of policy coordination, legislation development, strategic planning, policy research and evaluation, and economic analysis. Personal Assistant Services are a key area their work and can be found at: aspe.os.dhhs.gov/daltcp/index-p.htm#personal

POLICY AND RESEARCH ORGANIZATIONS

Center for an Accessible Society is a national organization designed to focus public attention on disability and independent living issues by disseminating information developed through NIDRR-funded research to promote independent living. www.accessiblesociety.org/about.htm

Center for Health Care Strategies (CHCS), Inc.; Community Integration Initiative. The Center for Health Care Strategies (CHCS), in a major initiative tied to the US Supreme Court's decision in the 1999 *Olmstead v L.C.* case, awarded planning grants to seven states to improve their community-based long-term care services. The site includes several papers and resources on the community based workforce. www.chcs.org/ConsumerAction/communityintegration.html

Home and Community Based Services Resource Network is a partnership between the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (<u>ASPE</u>), <u>CMS</u> - Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, state agencies that purchase and

manage HCBS services, and consumers. The mission of the Resource Network is to work with states, the disability and aging communities, and others who are committed to high-quality consumer-directed services in integrated settings through cost-effective delivery models. www.hcbs.org/

Human Services Research Institute is active in its efforts to build the capacity of the direct-care workforce and shape a competent direct-service workforce with the skills, knowledge, and values that will help people lead self-determined lives. Toward this end, HSRI staff are engaged in a variety of demonstration, research, and technical activities to help government and human service employers ensure a robust workforce. www.hsri.org/ddworkforce/about.html

Independent Living Research Utilization is a national center for information, training, research, and technical assistance in independent living. Since ILRU was established in 1977, it has developed a variety of strategies for collecting, synthesizing, and disseminating information related to the field of independent living. www.ilru.org/index.htm

Institute for the Future of Aging Services is a policy research center housed within the American Association of Homes and Services for the Aging whose aim is to help ensure that the needs of older people are met.

<u>www.futureofaging.org/#</u>

National Clearinghouse on the Direct Care Workforce is a resource center supporting efforts to improve the quality of jobs for frontline workers across the long-term care spectrum. The Clearinghouse collects and analyzes a wide range of information related to public policy, workplace practices, and other issues that affect direct-care workers and their clients, and disseminates this information to providers, workers, consumers, advocates, policymakers, and researchers. www.directcareclearinghouse.org

PHI focuses on strengthening the direct-care workforce within our nation's long-term care system through developing innovative approaches to recruitment, training, and supervision; client-centered caregiving practices; and effective public policy. www.PHInational.org

Research and Training Center on Community Living (RTC) is part of the Institute on Community Integration, a University Center for Excellence in

Developmental Disabilities in the College of Education and Human Development at the University of Minnesota in Minneapolis. The RTC works with community support systems for people with developmental disabilities and their families, providing research, evaluation, training, and technical assistance. Among other things, it sponsors several websites, publishes a quarterly magazine, and provides organizational support to NADSP (see For Paid Caregivers). The RTC also helped to develop and maintains the Internet-based College of Direct Support (www.collegeofdirectsupport.com/), where workers can advance through several professional stages while earning first an associate's and then a bachelor's degree. www.rtc.umn.edu

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ADAPT. A community-based alternative to nursing homes and institutions for people with disabilities. Denver, Colorado: ADAPT. Found online at: www.adapt.org/casaintr.htm

ADAPT. Summary issue paper on attendant services. Denver, Colorado: ADAPT. Found online at: www.adapt.org/summary.htm

Assembly on Federal Issues Health Committee. 2000. Issues in brief: The Olmstead Decision. Washington, DC: National Conference of State Legislatures.

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2001. *The characteristics of long-term care users*. AHRQ Research Report. Rockville, Maryland: AHRQ Publication No. 00-0049, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.

Arno, Peter, Carol Levine, and Margaret Memmott. 1999. The economic value of informal caregiving. *Health Affairs* 18 (1) (March/April): 182-188.

Association of Developmental Disabilities Providers. 2000. The accelerating erosion in the quality of care for people with disabilities. Waltham, Massachusetts: Workforce Committee of ADDP. Found online at: www.addp.org

Barrett, Karen, and T.F. Riggar. 1997. The turnover dilemma: A disease with solutions. *Journal of Rehabilitation* 63 (2): 36-43.

Benjamin, A.E. and Ruth Mathias. 2000. Comparing consumer-and agency-directed models: California's In-Home Supportive Services Program. *Generations* 14 (3) (Fall): 85-88.

Blanks, Carolyn. 2000. Making a difference in Massachusetts. *Provider* (August): 59-60.

Bratesman, Stuart. 2000. Direct-care workforce challenges: Improving the recruitment and retention of workers who provide direct support to persons with disabilities. Portland, Maine: Edmund S. Muskie School of Public Service. Found online at: community.muskie.usm.maine.edu/Materials/workforce.htm

Brost, M., K. Turner, and A. McGrath. Experiencing loss in unexpected places. Madison, Wisconsin: Wisconsin Council on Developmental Disabilities. Found online at: www.dawninfo.org/advocacy/issues/workforce/expertol.PDF

Brown, Randall, and Leslie Foster. 2000. Issue Brief: Trends in consumer choice: Cash and Counseling early experiences in Arkansas. Princeton, New Jersey: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc. Found online at: www.mathematica-mpr.com

Burdsall, Debra. Not dated. Hiring and management of personal care assistants for individuals with spinal cord injury. Santa Clara Valley, California: Spinal Cord Injury Project. Funded by the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research. Found online at: www.tbi-sci.org/pdf/pas.pdf

Bureau of Labor Statistics. 1999. 1998-1999 *Occupational outlook handbook*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Labor Statistics. Found online at: statis.bls.gov

Bureau of the Census. 1997. Census Brief: Disabilities affect one-fifth of all Americans. CENBR/97-5. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration.

Bush, George. 2001. Executive Order: Community-based alternative for individuals with disabilities. Washington, DC: Office of the Press Secretary. Found online at: www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2001/06/20010619.html

California Department of Social Services. 2001. Draft report to the legislature: Implementing public authorities and nonprofit consortia to deliver in-home supportive services. Sacramento, California: California Department of Social Services, Disability and Adult Program Branch.

Camarota, Steven. Immigrants in the United States. 2002. A snapshot of America's foreign-born population. Washington, DC: Center for Immigration Studies. Found online at: www.cis.org/articles/2002/back1302.html.

Casebolt, Gordon, and Stephen Gilson. 2000. Managing personal assistants: A consumer guide. Washington, DC: Paralyzed Veterans of America. Found online at: www.pva.org/NEWPVASITE/publications/pdf/PersAsst.pdf

The Center for an Accessible Society. The "Institutional Bias" in long-term care policy. San Diego, California: Center for an Accessible Society. Found online at: www.accessiblesociety.org/topics/persasst/instbias.htm

Close, Liz, and Carroll L. Estes. 1994. A political economy perspective on frontline workers in long-term care. *Generations* 18 (3): 23-28.

Code of Federal Regulations. Revised October 2001. Title 42—Public Health; Part 484—Home Health Services. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office (GPO Access). Title 42, Volume 3, Parts 430 to end. 42CFR484.36

Connell, Noreen. 1989. Home care paraprofessionals: Undervalued, underpaid and increasingly unavailable. New York, New York: Community Council of Greater New York.

Cousineau, Michael. 2000. Providing health insurance to IHSS providers (home care workers) in Los Angeles County. Oakland, California: California HealthCare Foundation. Found online at: www.chcf.org/documents/insurance/ihss.pdf

Cramer, B., S. Harmuth, and E. Gamble. 1999. Comparing state efforts to address the recruitment and retention of nurse aide and other paraprofessional aide workers. Raleigh, North Carolina: North Carolina Division of Facility Services. Found online at: facility-services.state.nc.us/recruit.pdf

Dautel, Pamela, and Lex Freiden. 1999. Consumer choice and control: Personal attendant services and supports in America; Report of the National Blue Ribbon Panel on Personal Assistance Services. Houston, Texas: Independent Living Research Utilization. Found online at: www.ilru.org/pas/BRPPAS.htm

Dawson, Steven, and Rick Surpin. 2001. Direct-care health workers: The unnecessary crisis in long-term care. Aspen, Colorado: Aspen Institute.

Dixon, D. 2001. Disappearing frontline caregivers: Strategies for staff retention. *Long Term Care Interface* 2 (10) (October): 46-9.

Doty, Pamela. 1993. Informal caregiver "burnout" predictors and prevention. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.

Doty, P., A. E. Benjamin, R. Mathias, and T. Franke. 1999. In-home supportive service for the elderly and disabled: A comparison of client-directed and professional management models of service delivery. Los Angeles, California: University of California, L.A. Found online at: aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/home.htm

Doty, Pamela. 2000. Cost-effectiveness of home and community based long-term care services. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Found online at: aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/costeff.htm

Eustis, N., and L. Fischer. 1992. Common needs, different solutions. *Generations* 16 (1) (Winter): 17-23.

Feldman, Penny Hollander. 1994. 'Dead End' work or motivating job? Prospects for frontline paraprofessional workers in long term care. *Generations* 18 (3) (Fall): 5-11.

Fast, Janet, and Judith Frederick. 1999. Informal caregiving: Is it really cheaper? Colchester, England: Paper presented at the International Association of Time Use Researchers Conference.

Ford, Jerry, and Jill Honnor. 2000. Job satisfaction of community residential staff serving individuals with severe intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability* 25 (4) (December): 343-363.

Foster, L., et al. 2000. Cash and counseling: Consumers' early experiences in Arkansas. Princeton, New Jersey: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc. Found online at: aspe.os.dhhs.gov/daltcp/reports/earlyAR.htm

Fox-Grage, W., D. Folkemer, B. Burwell, and K. Horahan. 2001. Promising Practices Issue Brief: Community-based long-term care. Washington, DC: National Conference of State Legislatures. Found online at: www.ncsl.org/programs/health/forum/longtermcare.htm

Fox-Grage, W., B. Coleman and R. Blancato. 2001. Federal and state policy in family caregiving: Recent victories but uncertain future. *Policy Brief* 2. *Who will provide care: Emerging issues for state policymakers*. San Francisco, California: Family Caregiver Alliance and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Found online at: www.caregiver.org/national_center/PolicyBrief_2.pdf

Friedman, Sandra, David Helm, and Joseph Marrone. 1999. Caring, control, and clinicians' influence: Ethical dilemmas in developmental disabilities. *Ethics and Behavior* 9 (4): 349-365.

Gardner, John. 2001. Direct care workers in long-term care...An emerging crisis: The report of the Southwestern Pennsylvania Partnership for Aging Workforce Initiatives. Cranberry Township, Pennsylvania: Southwestern Pennsylvania Partnership for Aging.

Gaylord, V., A. Hewitt, and S. Larson (Eds.). 1998. *Impact: Feature issue on direct support workforce development* 10 (4). Minneapolis, Minnesota: University of Minnesota, Institute on Community Integration.

Gilbert, Nancy. 1988. A study of homemaker-home health aides: Perceptions of the work environment. *Caring Magazine* (November): 69-72.

Gipson, Genevieve. 1999. Building a network of stayers: Fix your staffing woes by giving good CNAs reason to stay. *Contemporary Long Term Care* (May): 61.

Glazier, Raymond E. 2001. The "Re-Invention" of personal assistance services. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Abt Associates.

Gould, David A., Kathryn Haslanger, and Bruce Vladeck. 1992. Coming of age: Home care in the 1990's. *Pride* (Winter): 19-28.

Grana, John M., and Sandra M. Yamashiro. 1987. An evaluation of the Veteran's Administration Housebound and Aide and Attendance Allowance Program. Washington, DC: Project HOPE Center for Health Affairs. Found online at: aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/vahbapes.htm

Gutheil, Irene, and Roslyn Chernesky. 2000. Family elder caregiving: The Grotta report on philanthropic trends and best practice models. New York, New York: Grotta Foundation for Family Care and the Ravazzin Center for Social Work Research in Aging at the Fordham University Graduate School of Social Service.

Hams, Marcia, et al. 2002. Health insurance access survey of direct-care workers in nursing homes and home-based care agencies in Boston, New Bedford/Fall River. Prepared by Health Care For All. Sponsored by The Direct Care Workers Initiative and the Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute with funding from Georgiana Goddard Eaton Memorial Fund, The Boston Foundation and Charles E. Farnsworth Charitable Trust. Unpublished report. Available on-line at: http://www.directcareclearinghouse.org/download/Health Insurance access survey.pdf

Hanson, Stuart, and Tanya Temkin. 1999. Collaboration between publicly funded rehabilitation programs and community-based independent living centers. *Issue Brief* 1 (1). Oakland, California: Rehabilitation Research and Training Center on Independent Living and Disability Policy at the World Institute on Disability. Found online at: www.wid.org/archives/issuebrief1.pdf

Hanson, Stuart.1999. Applying independent living principles to state health care programs for people with disabilities. *Issue Brief* 1 (2). Oakland, California: The Rehabilitation Research and Training Center on Independent Living and Disability Policy at the World Institute on Disability. Found online at: www.wid.org/archives/issuebrief2.pdf

Hayden, Mary, and Jon Goldman. 1996. Families of adults with mental retardation: Stress levels and need for services. *Social Work* 41 (6) (November): 657-668.

Hecker, Daniel. 2001. Employment outlook: 2000-2010: Occupational employment projections 2010. *Monthly Labor Review* (November): 57-84. Washington, DC: US Department of Labor Statistics.

Hecker, Daniel. 2000. *Monthly Labor Review*. Washington, DC: US Department of Labor Statistics.

Heinritz-Canterbury, Janet. 2002. Collaborating to improve In-Home Supportive Services: Stakeholder perspectives on implementing California's public authorities. Bronx, New York: Paraprofessional Healthcare Institute. Found online at: www.directcareclearinghouse.org

Hewitt, Amy, and K. Charlie Lakin. 2001. Issues in the direct-support workforce and their connections to growth, sustainability and quality of community supports. Durham, New Hampshire: National Program Office on Self-Determination. Found online at: rtc.umn.edu/downloads/hcfa.pdf

Hewitt, Amy, and Sheryl Larson.1994. Training issues for direct service personnel working in community residential programs for persons with developmental disabilities. *Policy Issue Brief* 6 (2) (June). Minneapolis, Minnesota: Center on Residential Services and Community Living at the University of Minnesota. Found online at: rtc.umn.edu

Hewitt, Amy, Sheryl Larson and Susan O'Nell. 1996. National voluntary credentialing for direct service workers. *Policy Issue Brief* 8 (2) (July). Minneapolis, Minnesota: Center on Residential Services and Community Living. Found online at: www.rtc.umn.edu

Holzer, Harry. 2001. Long term care workers and the low wage labor market: Current characteristics and future trends. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute and the Institute for the Future of Aging Services.

Howes, Candace R. 2002. The impact of a large wage increase on the workforce stability of IHSS Home Care Workers in San Francisco County. Berkeley, California: University of California Institute for Labor and the Economy and the University of California, Berkeley, Center for Labor Education and Research.

Human Services Research Institute (HSRI). 1994. The impacts of today's fiscal realities and tomorrow's on the system of services for people with developmental disabilities in New Jersey. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Human Services Research Institute.

Johnson, Amanda, and Kay Branch. 2001. Long-term care workforce recruitment and retention in rural Alaska: A report on personal care attendant focus groups. Anchorage, Alaska: Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority and Alaska Commission on Aging.

Johnston, K. 1998. Developmental disabilities provider direct service worker study: Results and findings. Anchorage, Alaska: Governor's Council on Disabilities and Special Education.

Kane, Rosalie A. 1995. Expanding the home care concept: Blurring distinctions among home care, institutional care, and other long-term care services. *The Milbank Quarterly* 73 (2): 161-186.

Kaye, H.S., M.P. LaPlante, D. Carlson, and B.L. Wenger. 1996. *Trends in Disability Rates in the United States*, 1970-1994. San Francisco, California: Disability Statistics Rehabilitation Research and Training Center, University of California.

Kassner, Enid, and Robert W. Bectel. 1998. Midlife and older Americans with disabilities: Who gets help? Washington, DC: Public Policy Institute at the American Association of Retired Persons. Found online at: research.aarp.org/il/d16883_midlife.pdf

Kekstadt, Donna. 2001. Are you ready: A personal assistant bonus program to recognize excellent employees. (September). Rock Falls, Illinois: The Northwestern Illinois Center for Independent Living. Found online at: www.ilru.org/ilnet/files/reading/ready.html

Kennedy, Jae, and Simi Litvak. 1991. Case studies of six state personal assistance service programs funded by the Medicaid personal care option. Oakland, California: World Institute on Disability. Found online at: aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/casestud.htm

Kovner, Christine Tassone. 2002. Nursing care providers in home care: A shortage of non-professional, direct-care staff. *American Journal of Nursing* 102 (1) (January): 91.

Kraus, Lewis, Susan Stoddard, and David Gilmartin. 1996. Chartbook on disability in the US, 1996. Washington, DC: National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research. Found online at: www.infouse.com/disabilitydata

Larson, S., K.C. Lakin, and A. Hewitt. 2001. Embarking on a new century: Direct support professionals: 1975-2000. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Research and Training Center on Community Living and Institute on Community Integration at the University of Minnesota.

Larson, S., Prouty, R., and Polister, B. 2001. Staffing patterns, characteristics and outcomes in large state-operated residential facilities in 2000. *Residential services for persons with developmental disabilities: Status and trends through 2000*. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Research and Training Center on Community Living and Institute on Community Integration at the University of Minnesota.

Levine, Carol. 1999. The loneliness of the long-term caregiver. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 340 (20): 1587-1590.

Lewis, Kathryn, and Susan Gardner. 2000. Looking for Dr. Jekyll but hiring Mr. Hyde: Preventing negligent hiring, supervision, retention, and training. *Hot Topics* 77 (1) (Winter): 14-25.

Lombardi, Kristen. 2001. Paying fair. *The Phoenix Media/Communications Groups*. Found online at:

http://www.worcesterphoenix.com/archive/features/01/01/11/NEWS_WAGES.html

MacAdam, Margaret. 1989. Leadership roles in home care personnel issues: A challenge for state units on aging. Waltham, Massachusetts: National Resource Center for Long-Term Care, Bigel Institute for Health Policy, Brandeis University.

MacAdam, Margaret. 1993. Home Care Reimbursement and effects on personnel. *Gerontologist* 33 (1): 55-63.

Manton, K.G, and X. Gu. 2001. *Changes in the prevalence of chronic disability in the United States black and nonblack population above age 65 from 1982 to 1999*. Durham, North Carolina: Center for Demographic Studies, Duke University.

Marks, Nadine, and James D. Lambert. 1997. Family caregiving: Contemporary trends and issues. Madison, Wisconsin: Child and Family Studies, University of Wisconsin- Madison. NSFH Working Paper No. 78.

Mc Knew, Mary. 1999. *We Choose Independence*. (Summer). Edmonds, Washington: Project PAS Port for Change in collaboration with Washington Protection and Advocacy System.

McDonald, Gina, and Mike Oxford. History of independent living. Dayton, Ohio: Access Center for Independent Living. Found online at: www.acils.com/acil/ilhistory.html

McNeil, Jack. 2001. Americans with disabilities: Household economic studies. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau.

Mc Night, John.1995. Professionalized service and disability help. *The careless society: Community and its counterfeits*. New York, New York: Basic Books.

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: Colorado- Increasing persons' control over personal attendants. Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: Florida- Cash allowance and support services for people with disabilities.

Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: Georgia- Increasing service flexibility for caregivers. Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: North Dakota- Supporting Family Caregivers with Payment for Services. Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: Oregon- Maximizing participant control over services. Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

MEDSTAT Group. Promising Practices in Home and Community Based Services: Wyoming- Individual budgets for Medicaid waiver services. Baltimore, MD: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Found online at: www.cms.gov

Melemed, Brian. 1994. An examination of issues related to how home- and community-based service programs operate within fixed budgets and to the administrative linkages between eligibility determination, needs assessment and care planning functions. Washington, DC: National Association of Area Agencies on Aging Inc. Found online at: aspe.os.dhhs.gov/daltcp/reports/examines.htm

Mesirow, Katherine, et al. 1998. Improving certified nurse aide retention: A long-term care management challenge. *The Journal of Nursing Administration* 28 (3) (March): 56-61.

Moseley, Charles.1999. Making self-determination work. Durham, New Hampshire: National Program Office on Self-Determination. Found online at: www.self-determination.org

Nadash, Pamela. 2001-2002. New York State's Medicaid-only Managed Long-Term Care Program. *Policy Brief* (Winter). New York, New York: Center for Home Care Policy and Research. Found online at: www.vnsny.org/research/

National Council on the Aging. 2001. Together we care: Helping caregivers find support. Washington, DC: National Council on Aging and Pfizer. Found online at: www.ncoa.org/caregiver.pdf

National Council on the Aging. 2001. A national survey of health and supportive services in the aging network. Washington, DC: National Council on the Aging, National Institute of Senior Centers, National Association of State Units on Aging, National Association of Area Agencies on Aging, and Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Found online at: www.ncoa.org

National Governors Association and National Association of State Budget Officers. 2002. Fiscal survey of states. Washington, DC: National Governors Association and National Association of State Budget Officers. Found online at: www.nga.org/cda/files/NOV2002FISCALSURVEY.pdf

Neisz, Helga. 2001. Payments to family members for long-term care. Hartford, Connecticut: Office of Legislative Research. Found online at: www.cga.state.ct.us/2001/rpt/olr/htm/2001-r-0796.htm

Nerny, Tom. 2002. AAMR white paper: This is freedom. Delivered as Plenary Session No. 11, General Session, on June 2, 2000, at the AAMR 124th Annual Meeting. Washington, DC: American Association on Mental Retardation.

The NewsHour with Jim Lehrer, Kaiser Family Foundation, and the Harvard School of Public Health. 2001. Highlights and Chartpack: National Survey on Nursing Homes. Menlo Park, California: Kaiser Family Foundation. Found online at:

www.pbs.org/newshour/health/nursinghomes/highlightsandchartpack.pdf

O'Brien, John.1994. Assistance with integrity: The search for accountability and the lives of people with developmental disabilities. Lithonia, Georgia: Responsive Systems Associates.

O'Brien, John.1987. Discovering community living: Learning from innovations in services to people with mental retardation. Lithonia, Georgia: Responsive Systems Associates.

O'Brien, John. 1989. What's worth working for? Leadership for better quality human services. Lithonia, Georgia: Responsive Systems Associates.

O'Brien, John. 2001. Paying customers are not enough: The dynamics of individualized funding. Syracuse, New York: Responsive Systems Associates form the Center on Human Policy Syracuse University for the Research and Training Center on Community Living.

Ondrejka, Jennifer, and Howard Mandeville. 2002. A common understanding of the direct service workforce crisis. Madison, Wisconsin: Wisconsin Council on Developmental Disabilities, Direct Service Workforce Initiative. Found online at: www.wcdd.org.

PHI. 2003. The right people for the job: Recruiting direct-care workers for home-and community-based care. Workforce Tools 1(1). Baltimore, Maryland: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

PHI and the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. 2002. Results of the 2002 National Survey of state initiatives on the long-term care direct-care workforce. Bronx, New York: PHI. Found online at: www.PHInational.org/clearinghouse

PHI. 2000. Recruiting quality health care professionals: A PHI technical series publication. Bronx, New York: PHI. Found online at: www.PHInational.org

Pear, Robert. 2002. 9 of 10 nursing homes lack adequate staff, study finds. *New York Times* February 18, 2002.

Penning, Margaret J. 2002. Hydra revisited: Substituting formal for self- and informal in-home care among older adults with disabilities. *The Gerontologist* 42 (1): 4-16.

Polivka, Larry. 1996. The role of informal long-term care and the cost-effectiveness of community-based formal care: A survey of research findings and their policy implications for long-term care in Florida. Tampa, Florida: Commission on Long Term Care in Florida. Found online at: usfweb.usf.edu/fpeca/volume3.htm

Polivka, Larry. 2001. Paying family members to provide care: Policy considerations for states. *Policy Brief* 7. *Who will provide care? Emerging issues for*

state policymakers. San Francisco, California: Family Caregiver Alliance and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.

Prouty, R.W., and K.C. Lakin, eds. 2001. *Residential services for persons with developmental disabilities: status and trends through 1998.* Minneapolis, Minnesota: Research and Training Center on Community Living and Institute on Community Integration at the University of Minnesota.

Prouty, R.W., Smith, G., and K.C. Lakin, eds. 2002. *Residential services for persons with developmental disabilities: status and trends through 1998.* Minneapolis, Minnesota: Research and Training Center on Community Living and Institute on Community Integration at the University of Minnesota. Available online at: http://rtc.umn.edu/risp01

Reno, L., J. Rose, and Irwin Siegel Agency Inc. 1999. Staff recruitment and retention strategies: Results and analysis of the staff recruitment and retention survey. Rock Hill, New York: Irwin Siegel Agency.

Rhoades, Donna, and Kay McFarland. 1999. Caregiver meaning: A study of caregivers of individuals with mental illness. *Health and Social Work* 24 (4): 291-299.

Rowland, Diane. 2001. Low-income and uninsured: The challenge for extending coverage. The Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured for "Living without health insurance: Who's uninsured and why?" Washington, DC: Committee on Finance, United States Senate.

Schore, Jennifer, Mary Harrington, and Stephen Crystal. 1998. The role of home and community based services in meeting the health care needs of people with AIDS: Final report. Princeton, New Jersey: Mathematica Policy Institute, Inc.

Shafer, M., R. Pardee, and M. Stewart. 1999. An assessment of the training needs of rehabilitation and community mental health workers in a six-state region. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 23 (2) (Fall): 161-170.

Silberberg, Mina. 2001. Respite care: State policy trends and model programs. Washington, DC: Family Caregiver Alliance, National Center on Caregiving.

Simon-Rusinowitz, L., K. Mahoney, and A. Benjamin. 1998. Payments to families who provide care: An option that should be available. *Generations* 22 (3) (Fall): 69-76.

State of Wyoming Department of Health. 2001. Report to the Joint Appropriations Committee on Study of Nonprofessional Direct Care Staff Recruitment, Retention and Wages. Cheyenne, Wyoming: Wyoming Department of Health.

Stone, Deborah. 1999. Care and trembling. *The American Prospect* 43 (March-April): 61-67.

Stone, Robyn, with Joshua Wiener. 2001. Who will care for us? Addressing the long-term care workforce crisis. Washington, DC: The Urban Institute and the American Association of Homes and Services for the Aging.

Straker, Jane K., and Robert C. Atchley. 1999. Recruiting and retaining frontline workers in long-term care: Usual organizational practice in Ohio. Oxford, Ohio: Scripps Gerontology Center.

Taylor, Marianne. 1998. A call for exemplary service. *Impact Newsletter: Feature issue on direct support workforce development* 10 (4). Found online at: ici.umn.edu/products/impact/104/strat1.html

Taylor, Marianne. 1999. The direct support workforce. Silver Spring, Maryland: The Arc. Found online at: http://thearc.org/faqs/dsw.html

Taylor, Marianne. 2002. Losing the human touch: How will we find it? Cambridge, Massachusetts: Human Services Research Institute in collaboration with the National Alliance for Direct Support Professionals.

Taylor, Marianne. 2002. The road not taken: Paths to careers in human services. Boston Presentation: Innovation out of crisis. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Human Services Research Institute.

Thomas, Stephanie. 2002. A disability perspective on home health care. Denver, Colorado: ADAPT. Found online at: www.adapt.org/homehealth.htm

Turner, Kim. 2002. Relationships and change. (March). Madison, Wisconsin: Presented at *The Workforce Riddle* for the DD Network.

University of Maryland Center on Aging. 2001. Cash and counseling demonstration: Cash & Counseling General Information. College Park, Maryland: University of Maryland Center on Aging. Found online at: www.inform.umd.edu/EdRes/Colleges/HLHP/AGING/CCDemo/info.html

US Department of Health and Human Services. 1998. Informal caregiving: Compassion in action. Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.

US Department of Health and Human Services. 2000. Understanding Medicaid Home and Community Services: A primer. Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Found online at: aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/primerpt.htm

US Department of Health and Human Services. 2002. Closing the gap: A national blueprint to improve the health of persons with mental retardation. Washington, DC: Report to the Surgeon General's Conference on Health Disparities and Mental Retardation.

US Department of Justice. 1990. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice. Found online at: www.usdoj.gov/crt/ada/pubs/ada/txt.

Velguose, Linda and Virginia Dize. 2000. A review of state initiatives in consumer-directed long-term care. *Generations* 24 (3) (Fall): 28-34.

Wagner, Donna. 2001. Enhancing state initiatives for working caregivers. *Policy Brief* 5. Washington, DC: Family Caregiver Alliance and National Center on Caregiving.

Walsh, K., Kastner, T., & Gentlesk-Green, R. 2003. Cost comparisons of community and institutional residential settings: Historical review of selected research. *Mental Retardation* 41 (2) (April): 103-122.

Wenger, Gay. 2002. The Workforce Riddle in a rural county. (March). Madison, Wisconsin: Presented at *The Workforce Riddle* for the DD Network.

Wheatley, Cherie. 2000. Give employees the red carpet treatment. *Provider* (July): 53-54.

Workforce Training and Education Coordinating Board. 2002. The health care labor shortage. Olympia, Washington: Health Care Labor Shortage Work Group.

World Institute on Disability. 1991. Resolution on personal assistance services. Oakland, California: World Institute on Disability. Found online at: www.naotd.org/pca.htm

Yamada, Yoshika. 2001. Consumer-direction in community-based long-term care: Implications for different stakeholders. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 35 (3): 83-97.

Yee, Donna. 1994. Will new settings offer better work environments for paraprofessionals? *Generations* 18 (3) (Fall): 59-65.